FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/4/2019 4:18 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 97592-2 SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 79666-6-I COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TERRY HOY, an individual,

Petitioner,

v.

THE 400 CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, a Washington nonprofit corporation,

Respondent.

AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW

Matthew J. Smith, WSBA No. 33309 Gregory A. McBroom, WSBA No. 33133 SMITH MCBROOM, PLLC P.O. BOX 510 Renton, WA 98057

Phone: (206) 409-3828

Attorneys for Petitioner Terry Hoy

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Terry Hoy petitions for review of the Court of Appeals decision referenced in Section II below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Hoy requests review of the decision by Division One of the Court of Appeals in this case, cause no. 79666-6-I filed on July 1, 2019, which affirmed the trial court's summary judgment dismissal of Mr. Hoy's claims. The Court of Appeals denied Mr. Hoy's Motion for Reconsideration on July 29, 2019. A copy of the decision and the order denying the motion for reconsideration are attached to the Petition for Review.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Petition raises the following issues warranting review:

Issue One: Is the decision of the Court of Appeals in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals? (Yes)

Issue Two: Should condominium rules that do not treat owners uniformly be reviewed under a reasonableness standard? (Yes)

Issue Three: Should the Court reverse the Court of Appeals and the trial court because the Association's rule does not treat owners uniformly and is manifestly unreasonable? (Yes)

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Terry Hoy is the owner of a condominium unit that is part

of The 400 Condominium complex located in Bremerton, Washington. In July 2014, Mr. Hoy submitted a request to the Board of Directors (the "Board") for The 400 Condominium Association (the "Association"), seeking approval for the installation of a heat pump ("HVAC System") in Mr. Hoy's unit. CP 362-63. The HVAC System would require access to and alteration to the Common Element wall adjacent to his unit, with an outside HVAC unit installed on the Limited Common Element patio designated for Mr. Hoy's exclusive use. <u>Id.</u> Numerous other units in the condominium had HVAC Systems that were installed during initial construction. CP 413.

The Board delayed any response to Mr. Hoy's request for nearly a year. On June 17, 2015, the Board authorized Mr. Hoy to install the HVAC System, while agreeing that a Memorandum of Understanding ("MOU") would be signed at a later date. CP 366-67 (Board meeting minutes). The Board and Mr. Hoy did not agree to the specifics of what the MOU would include. Mr. Hoy had the HVAC system installed soon thereafter.

On July 15, 2015, the Board adopted an "HVAC Rule," though it still had not finalized a MOU. CP 368 (Board meeting notes).

The Board approved a draft MOU in September 2015, but did not ask Mr. Hoy to sign it, and hired an attorney to review it. CP 370 (Board meeting notes). Over a year later, in October 2016, the Board changed the requirements and wanted Mr. Hoy to execute a covenant instead of a MOU.

CP 377-78 (Board meeting notes). In December 2016, Mr. Hoy received a proposed covenant, which would be recorded against his unit. CP 379-83. The covenant would impose individual liability on Mr. Hoy should his HVAC System cause any damage:

To the fullest extent permitted by law, OWNER shall indemnify and hold harmless the ASSOCIATION from and against all claims, damages, liability, losses and expenses ... arising directly or indirectly out of or incident to the construction, existence, use, maintenance or condition of the Work. This indemnity obligation shall apply regardless of whether or not such liability is caused in part by the ASSOCIATION, its agents or employees or another ASSOCIATION member....

CP 382 (proposed Covenant offered to Mr. Hoy). The covenant would "bind and burden" the property. <u>Id.</u> at 380.

The Association includes several other units that have HVAC systems that were installed during the original construction of the condominium. However, the Association did not require any of these other owners with HVAC systems to indemnify the Association for damages caused by their HVAC systems. Thus, Mr. Hoy questioned why the Association required only he sign such a covenant, but none of the other HVAC system owners, and whether such discrimination was lawful.

The Association threatened to remove the HVAC unit if Mr. Hoy did not sign the Covenant and Hold Harmless Agreement. CP 79-80. Mr. Hoy commenced an action in Kitsap County Superior Court, alleging that

the Board's actions breached its duty of ordinary and reasonable care, and that removal of Mr. Hoy's HVAC System was precluded by promissory estoppel. CP 5-6 (Complaint).

The Association moved for summary judgment dismissal of Mr. Hoy's claims, seeking dismissal of Mr. Hoy's breach of duty of care under RCW 64.34.308 because (1) the Board owed no duty of care to Mr. Hoy; (2) there were reasonable bases for the Board to make its decisions; and (3) Mr. Hoy could not show damages as a result of his breach. ¹ CP 148-66 (Association's Motion for Summary Judgment). The trial court granted the Association's motion for summary judgment. CP 405-06. The court's order dismissed all of Mr. Hoy's claims, without making any findings of fact or conclusions of law. Id.

Mr. Hoy appealed the court's order. Division One of the Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's decision. <u>See</u> Appendix (Court of Appeals opinion). The Court determined, *inter alia*, that the business judgment rule protected the Board from Mr. Hoy's action. On July 29, 2019, the Court of Appeals denied Mr. Hoy's motion for reconsideration. <u>Id.</u> (Court of Appeals order denying motion for reconsideration).

.

¹ The Association also sought dismissal of a promissory estoppel claim, termination of the preliminary injunction, and attorney fees and costs. These issues are not relevant for purposes of this appeal.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. The Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with the published decision of another Court of Appeals decision.

In this case, Division One of the Court of Appeals determined that the Association's actions were protected by the business judgment rule. Opinion at 6. However, the business judgment rule should not apply in this case, and the Court of Appeals' opinion is in conflict with another Court of Appeals published opinion that adopts a "reasonableness" standard for reviewing such rulemaking. The Supreme Court has previously declined to address the standard of review for condominium actions, but should do so now. The standard for reviewing condominium rules that are not uniform on all condominium unit owners is an issue of substantial public interest. The Court should grant review and reverse. RAP 13.4(b)(2), (4).

1. The "business judgment" rule is not appropriate where parties are not seeking to impose individual liability on board members.

In support of its decision to apply the business judgment rule, the Court of Appeals quoted another appellate decision: "Courts also apply the business judgment rule to actions of an owners association." Opinion at 6 (quoting Shorewood W. Condo. Ass'n v. Sadri, 92 Wn. App. 752, 757, 966 P.2d 372 (1998), *rev'd on other grounds*, 140 Wn.2d 47, 992 P.2d 1008 (2000)). But the Court of Appeals lopped off half of the quoted sentence, which in full demonstrated that the business judgment rule applies to

liability against board members, not as the standard of review of a new rule.

The "business judgment rule" is traditionally used as a defense against individual liability of board members making decisions for a corporation.

Under the "business judgment rule," corporate management is immunized from liability in a corporate transaction where (1) the decision to undertake the transaction is within the power of the corporation and the authority of management, and (2) there is a reasonable basis to indicate that the transaction was made in good faith.

Scott v. Trans-Sys., Inc., 148 Wn.2d 701, 709, 64 P.3d 1 (2003).

The Court of Appeals in this case cited only the first half of the relevant sentence from Sadri, which states in full:

Courts also apply the business judgment rule to actions of an owners association, <u>holding its members liable for their decisions only if they benefited to the detriment of other owners</u>.

Sadri, 92 Wn. App. at 757 (emphasis added).

Thus, although the <u>Sadri</u> court referenced the business judgment rule, it was only as it applies as a defense for board members from individual liability for their decisions. In this case, Mr. Hoy is not seeking to impose individual liability on board members for their decision, but is rather seeking to protect himself from a discriminatory decision by the board.

The Court of Appeals also cited Shinn v. Thrust IV, Inc., 56 Wn. App. 827, 833, 786 P.2d 285 (1990), to note that the rule requires directors

to act with "good faith" and with such care as an ordinarily prudent person would use. Opinion at 6. However, the <u>Shinn</u> court addressed the "business judgment" rule in the context of protecting management and corporate officers from liability. The <u>Shinn</u> case involved a lawsuit between partners of a partnership. "The business judgment rule does not appear to protect a defendant's conduct in Washington if the defendant did not exercise proper care, skill, and diligence." Shinn, 56 Wn. App. at 834-35.

The Court of Appeals also stated the proposition that "a court will not substitute its judgment for that of [the board members] unless there is evidence of fraud, dishonesty, or incompetence (*i.e.*, failure to exercise proper care, skill, and diligence)." Opinion at 6 (citing Riss v. Angel, 131 Wn.2d 612, 632, 934 P.2d 669 (1997) (internal citation omitted)). But the Riss case likewise involved the liability of individual members. Riss, 131 Wn.2d at 615 (affirming joint and several liability of individual HOA members for unreasonable and arbitrary rejection of construction plans, and remanding for determination of which members should be liable). Moreover, the Riss Court noted that "whether or not the business judgment rule should be applied to property owners associations, the decisions of these associations must be reasonable." Riss, 131 Wn.2d at 632 (emphasis added). The Riss Court stated even if the business judgment rule applied in that case, it would not exonerate the homeowners for their unreasonable

decision to reject the proposal. Id. at 633.

Thus, the Court of Appeals in this case erroneously relied upon a line of cases that deal with the business judgment rule and whether the rule protects individual officers, directors, and partners from liability for decisions they make. That is not the situation in this case. Instead, the Court should adopt the reasonableness standard for review of a condominium association's decisions, as previously outlined by Division Two.

2. A published decision from Division Two supports using a "reasonableness" standard for reviewing the validity of condominium rulemaking.

Not only does the <u>Sadri</u> opinion lack support for using the business judgment rule in this case, it actually noted that Washington has <u>not</u> yet adopted a standard to review condominium rules, and it subsequently adopted a "reasonableness" standard. <u>Sadri</u>, 92 Wn. App. at 756-57.

The <u>Sadri</u> court examined other jurisdictions, noting that some courts apply constitutional principles (such as equal protection or due process), others use contract theory, while still others use a business judgment rule to hold board members liable. <u>Id.</u> The <u>Sadri</u> court then noted that the most common approach "presumes the validity of restrictions in recorded documents, but <u>tests rules adopted by a governing body for reasonableness." <u>Id.</u> at 757 (emphasis added).</u>

The Sadri court analyzed the reasonableness rule by looking at two

cases from other jurisdictions. In Florida, the court differentiated between declarations and board rules. <u>Hidden Harbour Estates</u>, <u>Inc. v. Basso</u>, 393 So.2d 637 (Fla. Ct. App.1981). A restriction in the declaration is presumed valid, as each owner purchases the unit knowing of and accepting the restrictions imposed. <u>Sadri</u>, 92 Wn. App. at 757 (citing <u>Basso</u>, 393 So.2d at 639). "Such a restriction is akin to a covenant running with the land and will be upheld unless wholly arbitrary in application or in violation of public policy or a fundamental constitutional right." <u>Id</u>. at 757-58.²

With respect to rulemaking, the <u>Basso</u> court determined that "a governing body that promulgates a rule restricting some use "must show that the use is 'antagonistic to ... the health, happiness and peace of mind of the individual unit owners." <u>Id.</u> at 758 (quoting <u>Basso</u>, 393 So.2d at 640). "Such restrictions must be reasonable in both purpose and application." <u>Id.</u> (citing <u>Board of Directors of 175 E. Del. Pl. Homeowners Ass'n v. Hinojosa</u>, 223 Ill. Dec. 222, 679 N.E.2d 407, 411 (Ill. 1997)).

The Sadri court also looked at a Maryland case. <u>Ridgely Condo.</u>

<u>Ass'n v. Smyrnioudis</u>, 660 A.2d 942, 949 (Md. App. 1995), *aff'd* 681 A.2d

² Thus, in this case the Board's attempt to force Mr. Hoy to sign a covenant regarding the HVAC System is akin to the Board amending the Declaration (as it only applies to Mr. Hoy) by a simple majority vote of the Board, instead of the super-majority as required by RCW 64.34.264 and the Declaration, CP 219 (Decl. Art. 26.2 (amendments require

approval of 67% of owners to amend declaration; 90% to restrict use of unit)).

494 (Md.1996). In <u>Ridgely Condominium</u>, a bylaw amendment required clients visiting first floor professional offices to use exterior entrances, rather than the lobby. <u>Id.</u> at 942. The <u>Ridgely Condominium</u> court determined that the "relative ease" of amending bylaws supported a stricter review under the reasonableness standard to prevent discrimination against certain classes of owners. <u>Id.</u> at 949-50. It held the amendment invalid because <u>it did not treat owners equally</u> and was not reasonably related to the health, happiness, and enjoyment of unit owners. <u>Id.</u> at 951.

The <u>Sadri</u> court adopted the reasonableness test to review condominium rules, not the business judgment rule: "We find the reasoning in <u>Basso</u> and <u>Ridgely Condominium</u> persuasive and adopt a reasonableness requirement for both post-purchase amendments and rules promulgated by a governing body. This less deferential review is necessary to protect purchasers from unreasonable infringement on their property rights." <u>Sadri</u>, 92 Wn. App. at 759.

The Washington Supreme Court reversed <u>Sadri</u> on other grounds. <u>Shorewood W. Condo. Ass'n v. Sadri</u>, 140 Wn.2d 47, 57, 992 P.2d 1008 (2000) (finding bylaw invalid due to violation of Horizontal Property Regimes Act). The <u>Shorewood³</u> Court specifically noted that "[w]e leave

³ To avoid confusion "<u>Sadri</u>" refers to the Court of Appeals opinion, while "<u>Shorewood</u>" refers to the Supreme Court opinion.

for another day the question of whether to adopt a standard of review for condominium association rules." <u>Shorewood</u>, 140 Wn.2d at 49-50.

Thus, it was erroneous for the Court of Appeals in this case to cite the <u>Sadri</u> decision to support its application of the business judgment rule to the Association's promulgated HVAC rule. In fact, the <u>Sadri</u> court adopted a reasonableness rule, and cited cases that require such rules to not only relate to the health, happiness, and enjoyment of unit owners, but to also <u>treat owners equally</u>. To the extent that Division One in this case adopted the business judgment rule, that conflicts with the different rule applied in a published Court of Appeals decision by Division Two, and review is warranted. RAP 13.4(b)(2). This case involves a rule adopted by the Board that applies to one class of unit owners, but not others, and affects their property rights. The correct standard of review of such rulemaking is of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

B. Condominium rules that do not treat unit owners uniformly should be reviewed under the reasonableness standard.

The reasonableness standard is supported in both Washington and other jurisdictions, especially for non-uniform rules.

1. Washington courts support applying a reasonableness standard to review condominium rules that do not treat unit owners uniformly.

Although a condominium board may impose rules, they may not do

so with impunity. "[C]ondominium directors have a fiduciary responsibility to exercise ordinary care in performing their duties and are required to act reasonably and in good faith." Schwarzmann v. Ass'n of Apartment Owners of Bridgehaven, 33 Wn. App. 397, 403, 655 P.2d 1177 (1982). Officers and members of the board of directors are required to exercise "ordinary and reasonable care." RCW 64.34.308(1).

The reasonableness of an association's actions is a question of fact.

Green v. Normandy Park, 137 Wn. App. 665, 693, 151 P.3d 1038 (2007).

In Green, the court reviewed for substantial evidence the trial court's findings (after trial) that the community club (which enforced neighborhood covenants) acted reasonably in denying an owner's proposed building plans.

Id. The Green court found the community club acted reasonably and in good faith because, *inter alia*, it did not attempt to impose more burdensome setback requirements than those imposed by the covenants, which apply uniformly to all owners. Id. at 694.

Contrast the <u>Green</u> opinion with the case at hand, where the Association created a rule that treated Mr. Hoy differently than other owners. Other owners could enjoy their HVAC system without any personal indemnification for damage their system may cause. However, Mr. Hoy could not enjoy a professionally-installed HVAC system without also signing and recording a covenant indemnifying the Association and making

Mr. Hoy (or any subsequent owner of that one unit) liable for any damages to common areas caused by the HVAC system. There is no logical basis for the distinction between owners, as any professionally-installed HVAC system could potentially leak and cause damage to common areas.⁴

Enacting a rule that affects only a subset of unit owners is similar to only enforcing restrictions against some owners. "Even when restrictions are considered reasonable they may not be selectively enforced." <u>Sadri</u>, 92 Wn. App. at 761 (citation omitted). "<u>Uniform application is 'one factor that should weigh heavily in applying the reasonableness test</u>."" <u>Id.</u> (quoting Ridgely Condominium, 660 A.2d at 951) (emphasis added).

In another recent, unpublished Division Two opinion, the Court of Appeals addressed the propriety of a "House Rule" wherein a condominium board of directors attempted to change how rental of condominium units operated. <u>Kawawaki v. Academy Square Condo. Ass'n</u>, No. 42982-9-II, (Wash. Ct. App. Sept. 24, 2013) (unpub.) (persuasive authority, per GR

⁴ Mr. Hoy is not contending the Board has no authority to regulate installation or operation of HVAC systems. Instead, he is contending that any such regulation should be reasonable and should not create separate classes of ownership. If the Board's proposed restriction was limited to just <u>installation</u> of an HVAC system (*e.g.*, installation by licensed installer, the proposed unit meeting certification and noise requirements, etc.), that would likely pass muster because presumably those HVAC systems installed during construction already meet those requirements. Thus, all unit owners would be treated uniformly. But the Association's proposed covenant goes beyond mere installation of an HVAC, and seeks to impose rules and indemnity with respect to the continued use, operation, and existence of HVAC systems for some unit owners, but not for other unit owners.

14.1). In Kawawaki, the condominium's declaration restricted rentals to 25% of the units, and, once fully rented at that level, required other owners to put themselves on a waiting list. The Kawawakis bought a condo unit and put themselves on the waitlist. They were first on the waitlist when another unit owner (who was also a board director) bought another unit used as a rental. The board subsequently adopted a "House Rule" that stated that any unit that qualifies as a rental unit could be sold or conveyed and still maintain that "rental unit" status. The Court of Appeals sided with the Kawawakis, finding that the House Rule was unreasonable. "Reasonableness of a house rule is a two-pronged analysis. We must first determine whether the [rule] ... is reasonable in purpose and then we must determine whether it is reasonable in application." Id. (citing Sadri, 92 Wn. Ap. at 758). The Kawawaki court found, inter alia, that the effect of the house rule was "to create two classes of owners. Those in the 25 percent who will retain rental status and who can realize an additional benefit when selling to new investors and the other 75 percent of owners who will remain on the so-called 'first-come, first-served' waiting list. Accordingly, the House Rule is not uniformly applied and is not reasonable in application." Id. (citing Sadri, 92 Wn. Ap. at 761).

2. Other jurisdictions support applying a reasonableness standard to review condominium rules that do not treat unit owners uniformly.

Other jurisdictions review condominium rules and bylaw amendments for reasonableness, and examining whether owners are treated uniformly is a fundamental component of that inquiry.

The first question in applying the test of reasonableness is whether the decision or rule was arbitrary or capricious. ...

The second question is whether the decision or rule is discriminatory or evenhanded. ... [W]e believe it protects against the imposition by a majority of a rule or decision reasonable on its face, in a way that is unreasonable and unfair to the minority because its effect is to isolate and discriminate against the minority. It provides a safeguard against a tyranny of the majority.

The third question is whether the decision or rule was made in good faith for the common welfare of the owners and occupants of the condominium.

Worthinglen Condo. Unit Owners' Ass'n v. Brown, 566 N.E.2d 1275, 1277-78 (Ohio Ct. App. 1989) (emphasis added) (citation omitted).

"[A] procedurally correct and substantively reasonable amendment should not create invidious classifications or unfairly diminish the rights of some unit owners for the benefit of others." Thanasoulis v. Winston Tower 200 Ass'n, Inc., 519 A.2d 911, 917 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 1986), *rev'd*

542 A.2d 900 (N.J. 1988) (Cohen, J.A.D., dissenting) (citing <u>Le Febvre v.</u>

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