FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/4/2019 4:10 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 97592-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 79666-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TERRY HOY, an individual,

Petitioner,

v.

THE 400 CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, a Washington nonprofit corporation,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Seth E. Chastain, WSBA No. 43066 LEVY | VON BECK | COMSTOCK | P.S. 1200 Fifth Ave., Suite 1850 Seattle, WA 98101 T: 206-626-5444 / F: 206-673-2235 sechastain@levy-law.com Attorneys for Respondent The 400 Condominium Association

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. There is no conflict between Court of Appeals decisions

Hoy bases much of his contention that the Court of Appeals erred on the allegation that application of the business judgment rule is limited to scenarios that involve individual liability of association board members.

The foundation of Hoy's argument is that the Court of Appeals decision in *Shorewood W. Condo. Ass'n v. Sadri* stands for the proposition that the Board's action with regard to the HVAC Unit dispute should be subject to a reasonableness standard of review and that the business judgment rule applies only in situations wherein a party seeks to impose

liability against a board member in his or her individual capacity. Hoy misinterprets the law on which he relies. Nothing in the *Sadri* opinion establishes what Hoy contends. *Sadri* involved a dispute over the content of a condominium association's rule that restricted its members from leasing their units.²⁶ Owners became frustrated after the condominium association adopted a bylaw amendment restricting leasing only to those units already leased.²⁷ The Sadris leased their unit despite the amended bylaw restrictions and the association filed suit seeking a declaratory judgment establishing that it had authority to adopt the leasing restrictions.²⁸

The court began its analysis by acknowledging that Washington had yet to adopt a standard to review condominium rulemaking.²⁹ It then examined different standards used by other jurisdictions before concluding ultimately that the best approach would be one that tests the rules adopted by a governing body for reasonableness.³⁰ Hoy argues that Division One erred by applying the business judgment rule rather than the "reasonableness" standard in *Sadri*.

²⁶ Shorewood W. Condo. Ass'n v. Sadri, 92 Wn. App. 752, 754, 966 P.2d 372 (1998) rev'd on other grounds, 140 Wn.2d 47, 992 P.2d 1008 (2000)).

²⁷ Id.

 $^{^{28}}$ *Id*.

²⁹ *Id.* at 756.

³⁰ Id.

As a threshold matter, this Court should decline to consider this issue because Hoy never pleaded this argument, and never briefed or argued it to the trial court. Instead, Hoy raised a version of this argument for the first time on appeal, relying on a series of cases from foreign jurisdictions that he now abandons in favor of a general invitation for this Court to depart from one settled standard of review to another.³¹ Division One properly declined to consider the argument and this Court should likewise disregard Hoy's attempt to make an end-run around the Rules of Appellate Procedure.³²

Notwithstanding Hoy's failure to preserve the issue for review, Hoy's argument is nevertheless unavailing, because *Sadri* involved an entirely different set of underlying circumstances and the relief requested was of a critically distinct nature. In *Sadri*, the dispute revolved around the *substance* of the rule at issue. There, the parties disagreed over whether it was permissible for the association to make a rule restricting owner's rights to lease their units.³³ The answer to that question depended on whether the association could show that the rule's substance satisfied the test for reasonableness.

³¹ See Brief of Appellant at 22-28.

³² RAP 2.5(a)

³³ Sadri, 92 Wn. App. at 755.

Here, in contrast, Hoy never challenged the substance of any rule or whether the installation of the HVAC Unit was appropriate subject matter for the Board to regulate. Hoy did not contest, and still does not contest, the assertion that the Agreement's terms would, in fact, be best for the entire Association. Rather, Hoy took issue with the conduct of the Board itself, alleging that it violated duties of reasonable and ordinary care imposed on it by statute and that it failed to act in good faith by threatening to remove the HVAC Unit.³⁴ Critically, Hoy sought money damages for the alleged transgressions.³⁵

Hoy is conflating the two separate standards of review intended to apply in two separate and distinct contexts. *Sadri*'s reasonableness standard would arguably only apply when analyzing a rule's validity. Hoy did not assert claims seeking to address the validity of any rule. He claimed that the Association breached a duty of care owed to him, owed him damages for doing so, and the Association should be estopped from carrying out its threat to remove his HVAC Unit. The court's analysis in *Sadri* is not applicable to the facts of the instant dispute and its reasonableness test has no bearing on the outcome here. Instead, the Board's threatened action falls squarely within the purview of RCW 64.34.308(1)–which itself requires

³⁴ See Brief of Appellant at 12-19.

³⁵ CP 1-7.

that a board of directors act with reasonable care–and the business judgment rule, and Division One properly applied the same.

Alternatively, Hoy argues that it was error to apply the business judgment rule here because Hoy was not seeking to establish liability on the part of Board members individually.³⁶ In support of his argument, Hoy cites cases that involved application of the business judgment rule where parties were seeking to impose liability against individual board members.³⁷ However, simply because the business judgment rule has been (or potentially could be) applied as a defense to individual liability on the part of an association board member, Hoy cites no authority for the proposition that Washington courts may *only* apply the rule in that context. Indeed, one of the cases on which Hoy relies itself undermines Hoy's argument.

In Schwarzmann v. Association of Apartment Owners of Bridgehaven, Division One of the Court of Appeals examined the issue of personal liability of condominium board members as one of first impression at the time.³⁸ As part of its analysis, the Schwarzmann court considered whether the business judgment rule applies in the condominium association

³⁶ See Amended Petition for Review at 5-7.

³⁷ Id.

³⁸ Schwarzmann v. Association of Apartment Owners of Bridgehaven, 33 Wn. App. 397, 401, 655 P.2d 1177 (1982).

context generally.³⁹ It cited earlier Washington cases explaining that directors and officers of corporations are typically not liable for judgments and decisions made during the course of business.⁴⁰ The court then acknowledged that these cases did not involve condominium associations, but that several decisions from foreign jurisdictions had applied the same principles to conduct of the board of directors of such corporations.⁴¹ *Schwarzmann* also included citation to a Harvard Law Review article examining some jurisdictions' decision to treat condominium association rule-making as analogous to that of other corporate entities, by applying the business judgment rule to board action or inaction.⁴² No individual liability was at issue in these cases.

The Association went to great lengths under its prescribed powers to consider Hoy's request to install the HVAC Unit and determined that it would permit him to do so in exchange for his willingness to be subjected to conditions the Association deemed necessary. This is the type of decision making by corporate officers that directly fits with the spirit and purpose of the business judgment rule.

³⁹ *Id.* at 401-402.

⁴⁰ Id.

⁴¹ Rywalt v. Writer Corp., 34 Colo.App. 334, 526 P.2d 316 (1974); Papalexiou v. Tower West Condominium, 167 N.J.Super. 516, 401 A.2d 280 (1979).

⁴² Comment, *Judicial Review of Condominium Rulemaking*, 94 Harv.L.Rev. 647, 663–66 (1981).

B. The Association's decisions were entirely reasonable

As stated, *supra*, Hoy contends that the Association's actions should be reviewed under a "reasonableness" standard and that the Association's adoption of a "rule" which, in his view, does not treat owners uniformly is manifestly unreasonable.⁴³ Hoy does not explain how review under this "reasonableness" standard would differ analytically from review under the standard Hoy's Complaint alleged the Association violated – RCW 64.34.308(1)'s duty of ordinary and reasonable care.⁴⁴ Nonetheless, even if this Court assumes without deciding that a reasonableness standard should be applied here, this Court should decline to grant review because the Association's actions unequivocally satisfied any test of reasonableness.

To satisfy this test for reasonableness, the governing body restricting some use must show that the use is "antagonistic to…the health, happiness and peace of mind of the individual unit owners." ⁴⁵ Stated otherwise, a reasonable rule is one that is "reasonably related to the promotion of the health, happiness and peace of mind of the unit owners."⁴⁶

⁴³ Amended Petition for Review at 17.

 ⁴⁴ CP 6, Complaint, ¶4.3 ("The Board of Directors' threat that Mr. Hoy now execute a hold harmless and indemnification covenant or risk having his HVAC Unit removed constitutes a breach of its duty of ordinary and reasonable care, pursuant to RCW 64.34.308").
⁴⁵ Sadri, 92 Wn. App.. at 758 (quoting *Hidden Harbour Estates, Inc. v. Basso,* 393 So.2d 637, 639-40 (Fla. 4th Dist.Ct.App.1981)).
⁴⁶ Id.

Here, the Board had reasonable bases for its decision to condition Hoy's installation of the HVAC Unit on acceptance of the Agreement, and there is no evidence of bad faith. Hoy does not dispute that, when he installed the HVAC Unit, the Association was still determining the appropriate terms of its use. Rather than force Hoy to tear out the HVAC Unit while it investigated, the Association requested and received Hoy's promise that he would bind himself to terms the Board found appropriate once the Board finished its investigation.⁴⁷ The Board conducted a thorough investigation, talked with engineers, interviewed homeowners, reviewed written materials, consulted multiple attorneys, and determined that Hoy needed to execute an agreement containing a covenant so that the obligations and liabilities associated with the privately installed HVAC Unit ran with the land and bound future owners.⁴⁸

Hoy refused to execute the Agreement, and so the Board had no choice but to tell Hoy that the Board would remove the HVAC Unit unless he complied. The Board's decisions are not indicative of bad faith. On the contrary, the Board tried to appease Hoy by allowing him the beneficial use the HVAC Unit before finalizing conditions of use. The Board then tried

⁴⁷ Hoy disputes that he agreed to sign binding terms in any format other than a MOU. *See* Brief of Appellant at 18.

⁴⁸ See, e.g., Appendix F, CP 273-74, Lindamood Decl., ¶¶8-11.

to impose conditions that would be in the best interests of all owners. It cannot be disputed that the Board's decision to ensure it had investigated all possible concerns associated with the install of an HVAC Unit of this nature and its decision to permit Hoy to have the HVAC Unit only in exchange for his promise to indemnify the Association from liability (and to ensure that future buyers did the same), were reasonably related to the promotion of health, happiness, and peace of mind of other unit owners.

C. Hoy was not treated differently than other similarly situated HVAC owners as there were no other similarly situated HVAC owners.

Hoy claims that the Board treated him differently than other similarly situated HVAC owners as evidence that the Board was manifestly unreasonable.⁴⁹ Hoy argues the Association has purposely created two classes of owners, those who had an HVAC Unit installed during construction and those will seek to install an HVAC Unit afterward.⁵⁰ Hoy claims that there are "3 or 4" other HVAC units at the Association and that the Board did not require those owners to execute covenants as a condition of the HVAC units' use.⁵¹ However, the fact that the other HVAC units are *original construction* HVAC units the developer installed on the Property's roof cannot be

⁴⁹ Amended Petition for Review at 17.

⁵⁰ Id.

⁵¹ Id.

ignored.⁵² As fixtures or equipment that serve single units, original construction HVAC systems are Limited Common Elements under the governing documents.⁵³ These units are already subject to various rules, regulations, and ownership responsibilities.⁵⁴ Hoy's HVAC Unit, on the other hand, was the first private, add-on HVAC Unit at the Property since the Association's creation.⁵⁵ And Hoy recognized this before he installed the HVAC Unit:

6. As I understand it this will be the first add-on HAVAC for the 400 Condominiums. This will be this would be a great pilot to show case how to do this kind of project for other Condominiums in the 400 Condominiums. The installation is expected to take one day.

56

Hoy's unit was different from original construction units, and Hoy <u>knew</u> that his installation of the HVAC Unit would be the trial run of something the Association had never done before – permit an owner to privately install his or her own HVAC unit through and over Common and Limited Common Elements. Hoy's allegations that the Board did not apply rules uniformly does not amount to evidence of bad faith nor does it establish some kind of

⁵² Appendix B, CP 249-50, Woutat Decl., ¶¶3-4; Appendix I, CP 316, Hoy Decl., Exhibit 1, HVAC Proposal, ¶6; Appendix F, CP 271, 273-74, Lindamood Decl., ¶¶4, 8-10.

⁵³ CP 188, Declaration of Tim Sheppard in Support of MSJ, The 400 Declaration, Section 8.1; CP 230, Schedule C.

 ⁵⁴ Id., at CP 188, Section 10.8 ("Use of...Limited Common Elements shall be subject to the provisions of this Declaration and the rules and regulations of the Board.").
⁵⁵ Id.

⁵⁶ Appendix I, CP 316, Hoy Decl., Exhibit 1, HVAC Proposal, ¶6.

discriminatory treatment – he was the first owner to install a private HVAC Unit at the Association and the Association needed to determine the necessary conditions and restrictions accompanying any such installations that could involve varying types of HVAC units, installation methods, and installation contractors.

The Association only has to show that <u>a</u> reasonable basis exists for its decisions no matter what approach is used to evaluate them. If a board acted pursuant to its authority and there is a reason to believe the board's decision was made in good faith, that board must receive the protection of the business judgment rule, which would insulate it from any breach of duty of care claims. Because multiple good faith bases indisputably exist, Hoy's claims must be dismissed and there is no reason for this Court to grant further appellate review of Hoy's claims.

V. CONCLUSION

Hoy cannot establish that Division One erred by applying the business judgment rule on the facts of this dispute when the Associations actions are clearly of the type that are intended to be protected by the rule. Application of the business judgment rule is not limited to situations in which a party seeks to impose liability upon an individual member of a board of directors. Further, no Washington court had adopted a reasonableness standard for the kind of association conduct involved in this matter. Finally, even were a reasonableness standard to be applied, the Association here easily satisfies such a test because each of its decisions were reasonably related to the promotion of the health, happiness, and peace of mind of the other unit owners. Accordingly, this court should decline Hoy's request for review.